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THE BARN, DRAYTON ST LEONARD, OXFORDSHIRE
HISTORIC BUILDING INVESTIGATION AND RECORDING

Summary

The Grade [T*-Listed barn at Drayton St Leonard, which is thought to date to the
fifteenth-century, has been recorded prior to and during its conversion to the
headquarters of the Aston Martin Owners Club. It is a very impressive timber-framed
structure which appears to have undergone few structural alterations since its initial
construction. The only evidence of phasing uncovered were mortices suggesting that
one of the two wagon entrances may originally have been fronted by a projecting
porch. Historical research suggests that it was a manorial barn serving the Drayton
estate rather than a tithe barn.

1 INTRODUCTION
1.1 Background

1.1.1 The Oxford Archaeological Unit (OAU) was commissioned by the Aston
Martin Owners Club to undertake a programme of building investigation and
recording at a bam in Drayton St Leonard, Oxfordshire known locally as the
Tithe Barn (NGR: SU3978 9605). This results from the granting of planning
permission (application P98/W0050/LB) and listed building consent by
Oxfordshire County Council for the renovation of the bam to allow its
conversion to a new headquarters for the owners club.

1.1.2 Due to the historic and architectural significance of the building (listed Grade
11¥) permission Wwas granted with the condition that a programme of
archaeological recording be undertaken in line with planning guidance
(PPG15/16). A specification detailing the works was issued by OAU and this
was approved by South Oxfordshire District Council.

1.1.3 Considering the age, size and listed status of the barn there appears to have
been surprisingly little research and recording undertaken on it prior to the
current project. It is not registered on the Oxfordshire Sites and Monuments
Record and has not been included in several bam studies consulted, including
gazeteers of interesting bamns. A structural survey of the building, undertaken
by Dan Miles as part of the current development, concluded that the frame is
in a relatively good condition but that as well as various general repairs the
external walls required jacking up. It was therefore decided to entirely
dismantle the aisles of the barn and rebuild them having raised the aisle posts.
Relevant findings from the survey have been incorporated into this report.

2 Aims and objectives

21.1 The overall aim of the project was to record the bamn prior to and during its
conversion and to prepare an archive of the work undertaken. More specific
objectives were to determine and record:



Oxford Archaeological Unit Drayton St Leonard Bam, Oxfordshire
Aston Martin Owners Club Historic building recording

1.3

1.3.1

1.3.2

1.3.3

2.1

2.1.1

e the nature of the barn’s structural frame

e the constructional techniques used to erect the barn

e any evidence of phasing within the bam

e evidence of the use of the barn

o archaeological features revealed during intrusive ground works
Methodology

There were three main elements to the recording undertaken: photographic,
drawn and written. The photographic record consisted of black and white
prints and colour slides showing general external and internal views of the
building together with specific details such as construction joints. The drawn
record consisted of dimensioned sketches of details of the building and the
written record was based on descriptive site notes.

The initial phase of recording was undertaken in August 1999, before
commencement of on-site works and further site visits were undertaken in
September and October 1999 to record features revealed by the dismantling
and rebuilding of the structure. An intermittent archaeological watching bri ef
was also undertaken during below-ground works to the footings of the barn
and to form a service trench.

Historical research has also been undertaken at the Centre for Oxfordshire
Studies and the Ashmolean Library, Oxford. All available cartographic
sources were consulted together with other primary sources and the principal
secondary sources. A full bibliography is included at the end of this report.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND
Drayton St Leonard barn

The barn is located within the ancient parish of Drayton St Leonard, towards
the southern edge of the village, and is historically within the hundred of
Dorchester. It is ¢.10 miles south-east of Oxford and 2 miles north-east of
Dorchester.

The village is not referred to by name in Domesday, having formed part of the
Bishop of Lincoln’s Dorchester estate, but it developed in the medieval period
into three separate Dorchester estates. Two of these were associated with
religious houses while the third (Drayton Estate) was acquired at the end of
the fourteenth-century by Nicholas Drayton. The barn is believed to have
been erected in the fifteenth-century (although the Victoria County History
speculates that it may be of late fourteenth-century date) and it appears that it
was located within Drayton Estate (detailed below). This suggests that it was
therefore a manorial bam, storing the corm grown on the estate, rather than
technically a tithe barn where the church or monastery would store their one-
tenth tithe of the local crops grown.
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No attempt has been made to determine the exact extent of Drayton Estate but
it is apparent that the barn was within it from the alternative name by which
the barn is known: the Haseley Barn). This name relates to the former owners
of the barn, the trustees of the Great Haseley Poor Charity, who acquired part
of Drayton estate in the mid seventeenth-century and leased it to various
tenants until they sold it after the Second World War. The property and land
acquired by the Great Haseley trustees appears to have been relatively small in
size (4 yardlands) and had previously been divided from the manor and
acquired in the late sixteenth-century by Robert Doyley of Hambledon
(Berkshire) (See Appendix 1: VCH).

The barn is the oldest surviving secular structure in the village and the location
of the buildings with which it would originally have been associated is not
xnown. The collection of available historic maps is relatively poor and none
pre-date the mid nineteenth-century.

The earliest map is the 1841 Tithe map (Figure 2) and award which confirms
that at that date the bam and adjacent yard was owned by the Trustees of the
Great Haseley Poor Charity and was occupied by John Smith. There is a large
farmyard shown on the map c.40 m to the north-east of the bam but the
Charity did not own this and John Smith lived elsewhere in the village. Two
cottages are listed as being occupied by John Smith (both owned by the Great
Haseley Charity) and these are each about 300 m to the north and north-east.
The map and award also confirms that at that date by far the largest landowner
in the parish was the Earl of Abingdon with 578 acres while the second largest
was the Great Haseley Trustees with 86 acres. From this relatively large
figure it seems likely that the charity had increased their land ownership from
the original endowment. The tithe map pre-dates the enclosure of the land
surrounding the village by twenty years and it shows that the barn was located
to the east of a large field at the south-west corner of the parish called the
Dunn Field.

The enclosure map of 1861 does not show buildings so is of limited value and
the next map (1st edition Ordnance Survey, 1830. Figure 3) merely confirms
the information from the tithe map. The only phasing visible from the maps
was the addition of a small structure to the southern third of the east elevation
between the 1841 and 1880 maps.

The traditional function of barns

In order to understand the architecture and form of the bam at Drayton St
Leonard it is important to have an understanding of the function and status of a
barn such as this in the Medieval period.

The traditional bam was the most important farm building and had the dual
function of storage and threshing. Harvested com would enter the bam
through a high wagon door on one side of the building and would be unloaded,
frequently under the cover of a projecting wagon porch. The wagon would
then exit through a similar door in the opposite face of the building frequently
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slightly lower due to the lower clearance needed for an unloaded wagon to
pass.

The sheaves of corn would be stored on one side of the barn until the winter
months. When sufficiently dry the corn would be hand-threshed on a single-
bay wide threshing floor located between the wagon entrys on each face of the
building. The through-draft generated by the opposing wagon doors would be
used to separate the grain from the chaff and the chaff would then be
temporarily stored to the opposite side of the threshing floor.

The size of bamns varied considerably from the simple three-bay farm bam
with a central threshing floor to the large celebrated Medieval bams which
were frequently nine or ten bays wide with two threshing floors. Tithe bamns
tended to be for storage rather than for the processing of crops, although
threshing was also often undertaken. As detailed above the bamn at Drayton St
Leonard appears not to have been a tithe bamn but rather a large manorial barn
with two threshing floors.

DESCRIPTION
General description

The Tithe Barn at Drayton St Leonard is orientated north-west to south-east
although for the purposes of this report the north-east face is designated north.
It is six-bays wide, fully aisled on all four sides creating a central nave, and
has a plain clay tile covered gambrel roof (a hipped roof with a small gable
towards the apex). It is timber-framed covered in weather boarding and is set
on an uncoursed rubble stone plinth (Plate 7).

The barn, including aisles is 30 m long by 11.5 m wide. There is a primary
wagon entrance to either face of Bay IV and a possibly secondary entrance to
each face of Bay II (see below). A lean-to shed, believed from map evidence
to have been of mid- to late-nineteenth-century date, adjoined the barn at the
south end of the east face but had been demolished before the start of
recording.

The timber frame is almost entirely of elm which is relatively unusual for a
medieval barn. Elm is more susceptible to rot than the harder oak, if not kept
dry, and most early barns were of oak. It was only when oak became scarcer
in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries that elm became more widely used
as an alternative. The fact that so little of the elm within the barn at Drayton St
Ieonard had been replaced and that it was generally in a reasonable condition
is therefore also unusual.

The floor within the bam consists of 20 cm of hard core with a thin concrete
slab laid over. There was no discernible change of level at the former
threshing floors. The frame is constructed on a plinth of coursed limestone
rubble which has been repointed and with areas of rebuild.
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Method of construction

The barn was constructed on the ‘centre-line’ system starting with Bay IV and
working out on either side. This is most clearly apparent from the location of
scarf joints immediately to the north of each truss to the north of Frame IV and
immediately to the south of each truss to the south of Frame V.

Structural frame

The barn is six bays long (plus an aisle to each end) but there are only five full
cross frames due to the slope of the hipped roof; the two outer frames
terminate at the tie beam. The dimensions of the structural members, where
given, relate to Frame IV (see Fig 5 for numbering of bays).

Aisles

To the outer edge of each cross frame is an aisle post supported by a sole
plate resting on 2 sleeper wall of small stones. The footings rest on plain
topsoil and several of the posts have been buttressed with the addition of low
brick piers. Excavation for the new foundations revealed no new features.
The sole plates are tenoned into each other at the corners with a central tenon
and no mitre, and have plain tabled scarfs. In contrast with most of the rest of
the timber frame the sole plates and arcade post pads are largely of oak. The
aisle posts are lapped over the inside of the sole plates. Some have an
additional vertical wedge holding them in place while others are secured with
modern iron bolts.

The framing of each full bay consists of three vertical studs of inconsistent
size (other than the wagon entries). There is a single stud to the faces of the
outer side aisles and two studs between each aisle post at the ends of the
building. Each stud is tenoned (2 pegs) into a sole plate and aisle plate and
feather-edged weatherboard cladding is nailed to the outer face of the studs.

Within each cross frame a lower aisle tie (20 x 20 cm, ¢.30 cm above ground)
extends between aisle post (dovetailed to side) and main arcade post
(tenoned). The aisle posts have slender jowled heads (more marked in the end
aisles) supporting aisle plates (extending along the building) and upper aisle
ties. The outer end of each upper tie is dovetailed over the aisle plate (Plate
10) while the inner end is tenoned to the main arcade post with 2 pegs. Each
aisle plate is supported by the jowled head of the aisle post and scarfed to the
adjacent section of plate with a secret tapering bridle scarf the form of which
is only visible from above (P1. 11, Fig. 7). To the north of Bay VI each scarf
is located ¢.0.5 m to the north of each post while to the south of Bay IV each
scarf is to the south of the corresponding post. A curved brace rises from
aisle post (chase tenon, three pegs) to the aisle ties (three pegs) and the
mortices are all stepped with the barefaced side on the west side (Plate 9).

A principal rafter rises from each of the upper aisle ties (tenoned with 2
pegs) to the corresponding main arcade post (tenoned) with a straight brace
from the main post to rafter at mid-height, giving support to the purlins
immediately below (Plate 12). The purlins are through purlins, sitting in
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notches on the outer face of each principal rafter. They are scarfed just to the
north of each truss at the north end of the building and to the south at the south
end with a side-splayed trench scarf invisible from the interior (see Fig. 7).
(NB Similar scarf joints have recently been noted at No. 3 Fish Row in
Salisbury - see The Mortice and Tenon No. 8 Spring 1999). There are straight
windbraces between rafters (tenoned) and purlins (lapped on exterior).

Arcade/centre

There are seven pairs of main arcade posts with an additional central post to
each end truss (Frames I and VII). Each post is non-chamfered and set on
large, roughly dressed stone blocks (50 cm x 55 cm x 42 cm tall) and timber
pads (Plate 8). The stone blocks are substantial but significantly lower than
the huge stone bases which aisle posts rest on at some barns such as at Great
Coxwell where they appear to have been designed to resist damage from
wagons and the flail during threshing. The function of the stone bases at
Drayton St Leonard was presumably solely to resist the spread of damp from
the ground.

The jowled head (44 x 31 cm) of each arcade post supports an arcade plate
extending along the building and tie beam (36 x 28 cm) traversing it (Plate
23). There are slightly curved braces between post and arcade plate and
between post and tie beam (40 x 9 cm, 2 pegs to each tenon). In each end
truss there is a strainer beam between outer arcade posts and central post at a
level below that of the main tie beam. Each section of the arcade plate
supports the adjacent section by means of a secret bridled trench scarf similar
to those on the aisle plates (see Fig. 7). As with the construction of the aisles
each scarf to the north of Bay IV is located just to the north of a post while
those to the south are located to the south of a post.

Roof

A principal rafter (23 x 24 cm) is tenoned into either end of each tie beam
and rises to the apex of the roof where it is supported in some bays by a
secondary ridge-piece, secured by nailed yokes. Each principal rafter supports
two levels of butt purlins (20 x 15 cm) and is supported by a curved strut (12
X 24 cm) between tie beam and rafter (tenoned with 2 pegs) (Plate 17). It is
further strengthened by two tiers of wind braces (21 x 4 cm) between rafter
and purlin with central tenons and soffit spurs. There is a collar (25 x 14 cm)
within each cross-frame located immediately beneath the level of the upper
purlin (Plate 14). Each of the collars and ties are slightly cambered.

The roof construction for the hipped ends is unusual and of some interest
(Plate 20, 22). Each of the four corner arcade posts end at the tie beam on
which the feet of the common rafters of the roof hip sit. Inwards from this
(¢.50 cm) a short principal rafter (beaked over the wall plates to the sides of
the barn) rises to a collar just below the level of the lower purlin (and is braced
to the collar with plank spandrels; four pegs to each face); the short rafter
terminates there, and the hip rafters rest on this collar. Inwards again from this
a common rafter is enlarged above the level of the lower purlin to become a
principal rafter and continues so up to the apex, and carries a small hip collar



Oxford Archaeological Unit Drayton St Leonard Barn, Oxfordshire
Aston Martin Owners Club Historic building recording

3.3.10

34

3.4.1

3.4.2

343

344

3.4.5

3.4.6

above the level of the upper purlin, to support the top ends of the hip rafters
and form the base of the vertical gablet.

As a result of the hipped roof there are only five full cross frames. There are
nine common rafters to each of the four full bays and four full-height rafters to
the two half-bays created by the hipped roof.

Evidence of Phasing

The majority of the bam is evidently a single phase of construction. The only
significant evidence of phasing revealed was to the west face of Bay VI where
there appears to have formerly been either a projecting wagon porch extending
the existing wagon entry or a gabled roof over the entry, flush with the
existing face of the building but providing a greater height for the entry of
loaded wagons.

On the outer face of each of the two main arcade posts flanking Bay VI, on the
west side of the building at the level of the upper aisle tie, there are two
adjacent mortices (each one 28 cm tall x 5 ¢cm wide x 18 cm deep; 10 cm
apart) (Plate 15, 16). At the corresponding point on each of the other posts
there was a single mortice, which would have supported the upper aisle tie but
the double mortice to either side of the wagon entry suggests a larger structure
at this point such as a gabled wagon porch.

It is also significant that on the inner faces of each of the aisle principal rafters
flanking Bay IV there were no windbraces or mortices of former braces to the
aisle roof. This appears to confirm that there would formerly been a open
gabled porch and that the purlin and aisle plate to this bay are secondary.

Further evidence of the porch may be provided by a piece of secondary filling
timber to the upper purlin, at the central point of the west face of Bay IV,
where a ridge piece or other structural member of the porch gable would have
been located. The front section of the upper half of the purlin, between the
heads of the two wind braces, has been replaced by a pegged filling piece and
it is also notable that the underside of the purlin is particularly rotten again at
the central point of the bay.

To the opposite (east) face of Bay VI there are only single mortices to the
outer face of each main post suggesting that there was no wagon gable to this
side of the building. It would have been very typical to have had a tall gabled
porch to the west side of the building but not to the east as the fields and main
access track are located to the south and west and tall loaded wagons would

have entered from this side of the building with lower empty wagons exiting
to the east.

It is also significant that there were no double mortices to the outer faces of
either post facing Bay I, thus apparently confirming that there was no gabled
wagon porch to this bay and suggesting that the entry itself may have been
secondary. Also suggesting this is the fact that within Bay II there were wind
braces to the aisle roof.
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Another feature of possible interest is an empty mortice at the west end of the
upper face of the aisle tie of Frame III, immediately to the south of the base of
the principal rafter (Plate 21, Fig 6) The mortice has two peg holes to either
side and is immediately above the mortice in the underside of the aisle tie
which houses the head of the aisle post. The two adjacent mortices are
however separate features and do not continue through the tie. The sloped
north face and vertical south would suggest a member sloped parallel to the
principal rafter.

CONCLUSION

The barm at Drayton St Leonard is a highly impressive Grade II* listed
building of regional significance which appears to have been surprisingly
neglected in previous bam surveys. Its importance lies primarily as a
particularly well preserved late-medieval barn which has been little altered
since its original construction probably in the fifteenth century rather than
being amongst the very earliest surviving barns or having the most innovative
design.

The timber-framed structure has survived relatively well with the primary
timbers largely in-situ. The survival is particularly notable considering that it
was constructed of elm rather than the more durable oak which was the more
usual wood used for a barn this age.

Among the features of particular interest are the roof construction at the
hipped ends, with stepped end trusses, and the fact that the barn is fully aisled
on all four sides. The only significant piece of phasing revealed was the
evidence of a possible former wagon porch to the west of the building facing
Bay IV.

Although it is known as The Tithe Bam historical evidence suggests that it
was in fact built as a manorial bamn possibly shortly after Nicholas Drayton
had acquired Drayton Manor at the end of the fourteenth-century. The manor
appears to have fragmented in the late sixteenth-century and the barm was
owned by the Great Haseley Poor Charity from the mid seventeenth-century
until after the Second World War.

No archaeological features were revealed by the subterranean works such as
the work on the footings of the building or the work to the services.

Jonathan Gill, Julian Munby, Kate Newell
Oxford Archaeological Unit,
May 2000

Oaudata 1/Server 1/pers/jong/reps/farm/Drayton/text.doc
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recusancy of the Burcot branch of the family, and in
1769 the only Burcot recusantwas Richard Cherrell,s7
probably a relative of the recusant Cherrell family of
Dorchester.

Protestant dissent apparently did not exist before
the 1gth century, but was strong enough in 1803 for
the house of Eleanor Frewin to be licensed for re-
ligious worship.58 In 1322 the house of Mary
Frewin was licensed,3 and others in 1830 and 1347.69
There is nothing to indicate to which denormination
these worshippers belonged.

SCHGOOLS. There was a day scheol at Burcot in
1818 where some children were educated at their
parents’ expense. The poor, it was said, ‘would
accept any mode of education otfered to them’.!
A Sunday school was started in 1831 where 18 boys
and 16 giris were taught at the expense of one of the
parishioners.®? In 1854 the Sunday school had 3o
pupils and a dame’s school with 15 day pupils was
recorded.53

A Church of England school for boys and girls was
buiit in 1869. It had 53 pupils in 1871, but the
numbers had decreased to 30 in 1887, and to 22 by
19z0.% The difficulties of the school teacher in early
days are well illustrated in the school’s log book: it
was impossible to enforce attendance and the chil-
dren were kept at home for weeks on end to work in
the tfields. The inspector at the end of the century
said that the school was taught with kindness, but
commented in 1go4 that ‘much remains to be done
to develop the children’s intelligence’.%s The school
closed in 1922 and in 1934 the children were walking
to Clifton Hampden, and since 1956 they have been
going to Dorchester St. Birinus.%6

DORCHESTER HUNDRED

Oy VCH
BURCOT

CHARITY. Leonard Wilmott, by deed of 1608, gave
a rent charge of £2 issuing out of lands in Clanfield,
to be distributed on Good Friday to the unrelieved
poor of Burcot and like gifts to the poor of other
places. The gift was regulated by a charity decree of
1617. About 1823 it was being distributed to some
24 poor according to need. Two further sums of ss.,
charged at unknown dates by unknown donors (one
of whom, however, appears to have been called Cave)
upon lands in Burcot, were distributed at the same
tzme.57 By 188~ one of the two latter rents had ceased
to De paid. Arter protracted efforts to recover it,
G. R. Huggins and Lady Crawford, the second of
whom paid the other rent, agreed jointly to redeem
the two rents for [10 stock, an arrangement con-
firmed by Scheme.%3 In 19o8 the three charities were
placed by 3Scheme under joint trustees, and pro-
vision was made for applying the income to sub-
scrintions or donations to the funds of any nearby
club or society capable of supplying the poor with
coal, clothing, or other necessaries. The sum of £10,
representing the accumulated income of the chari-
ties, was invested so that it might be applied, if
necessary, to the relief of sufferers in epidemics.59
Under a new Scheme of 1911 the trustees were
authorized to apply the income to subscriptions or
donations to hospitals or homes capable of benefiting
the poor inhabitantsand to clubs orsocietiessupplying
coal or clothing, in the provision of nurses and mid-
wives, and in meeting the expenses of poor patients
travelling to hospitals or homes. A Scheme of 1937
slightly extended the medical benefits.7® In 1931-2
£f2 14s5. was being paid to the Clifton Hampden
Nursing Association. In 1953-5 the accumulated
income, amounting to £86, was undistributed.?*

DRAYTON ST. LEONARD

THE ancient parish covered 1,288 acres,! but its area
was slightly increased in the 1870’s as a consequence
of the Divided Parishes Acts (1876-1882), and was
given in the Census of 1891 as 1,301 acres.? The
increase is to be accounted for by the inclusion in the
parish of Woodmead, the riverside pasture opposite
the village, where there had been for centuries several
small detached parts of the neighbouring parishes of
Newington and Warborough as well as of Benson,
Berrick Salome,’ and Ewelme, which presumably
represented early intercommoning arrangements.+
Most of the parish lies in a large bend of the River
Thame which forms the parish boundary for about
2 miles and separates Drayton from Warborough.
Neither the western boundary with Dorchester nor
the northern boundary with Chislehampton is
marked by any distinctive features, About 300 acres

57 Davey, Catholic Family, 70.

53 Cxf. Dioc. ¢ 644, f. 68.

59 Ibid. f. 266.

60 Tbid. c 643, f. 147; ¢ 647, f. 65.

81 Educ, of Poor, 720.

%2 Educ, Eng. Abstract, 742.

83 [Vilb. Visii.

5+ Elem. Educ. Ret. 518; Kelly, Dir, Oxon. (1887, 1920);
Vol. Sch. Ret. 35.

55 (O,R.0. Burcot sch. log bk. 1871-1908.

%6 Inf. Oxon. Educ. Cttee.

87 3th Rep. Com. Char. 492; 10th Rep. H.C. 103, p. 358
1824}, xiii; Char. Com. file 69609.

APPENDIX 1 Extract from the Victoria County History of Oxfordshire Vo

of Drayton, Holcombe Grange, lie on the opposite
side of the river.

Except at Holcombe Grange the underlying Gault
Clay is generally covered with gravels and the parish
is remarkably flat, the highest point (244 ft.) beingon
Primrose Hill south of the river.

Apart from the trees of the village, the riverside,
and Hoicombe Grange, the only woodland is the
copse to the north-west of the village and this is
recent: it is not shown on the Tithe Award map of
1841 or the Ordnance Survey map of 1881.6 Hol-
combe Grange is better wooded than the rest of the
parishand its timber is mentioned several times in the
visitations made bv the President and Fellows of
Trinity College, Oxford. In 1769 298 eims and ashes
were cut leaving 2,290 trees standing. In 1811 the
timber was reported to be in bad order and arrange-

68 Char. Com. file 69609 and Burcot G. file.
69 Ibid. G. file. 70 Thid.
7t Ibid. Accts. file.

t V.C.H. Oxon. ii. 2z0; 0.S. Area Bk. (1882).

2 Exactly how the increase was brought about escaped
the notice of the Registrar General: see Census 189r1;
V.C.H. Oxon. ii. 220, 213; O.5. Map 257, xlvi. 6, 7, 10,
11, 14, 135 (1881).

3 The Berrick part was mentioned in 1279: Rot. Hund.
(Rec. Com.), ii. 751.

+ See below, p. 78.

5 V.C.H. Oxon. i, map between pp. 4-35.

6 Bodl. Tithe award map; O.5. Map 2357, xIvi.
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ments were made for the felling of about goo trees.?
In the 14th century ‘le Hurst de Draytone’ is men-
tioned and this is probably the same as the meadow
to the north-east of the village, which in 1841 was
called the Hurst.? This suggests that the meaning
nere was not ‘wood’ but ‘bank’.

The meadows along the river are liable to looding
and the fields of Drayton are traversed by many
smail watercourses and ditches the ‘scouring’ of
which, or rather the failure to do so. was one of the
main concerns of the manorial court in the 17th and
13th centuries.?

Two metailed roads lead out of the village, one
to Stadhampton across Haywards Bridge, the other
west 70 Dorchester and Burcot. There are alse two
unmetalled roads, one leading to Chislehampton, the
other across the river to Warborough and Newing-
ton,*9 The river was formerly crossed by two fords.
The lower of these, by the village, remains un-
bridged but the other, Haywards, was bridged in 1884
by public subscription.!t Before that there seems
have been a footbridge at this ford, certainly in
1841.72 There have been at least two other foot-
bridges. The one that remains, just above Lower
Grange Farm, is a replacement of the bridge marked
at the same place in 1767.1 The other, just above the
ford, was built after 1897 and was washed away after
1948.14

The viilage stands on the right bank of the river
about 2 miles north-east of Dorchester. Its double
name of Drayton St. Leonard first appears in the
Post Office Directory of 1847.7 Formerly it had been
called Drayton by Wallingford. The new name, a
natural one to adopt as the church was dedicated to
St. Leonard, has been regularly used since 1347.

The village covers a large area for the number of
its houses. Apart from the ¢ eight council houses built
since 1943,!% most of Drayton lies between the church
and the river. There are a remarkable number of old
houses. At least fifteen were built in the 16th or 17th
centuries, although in some cases there have been
extensive later alterations and additions. The Hearth
Tax returns of 1665 list 16 houses with 1 to 7 hearths,
5 of them having 3 hearths or more.!7 Most of the old
cottages are timber-framed buildings with brick
illling, and severalare still thatched. The oldest seems
to be the 16th-century Garden Cottage by the river
south-east of Dravton Manor Farm, but its neigh-
bour, Little Garden Cottage, or Back Cottage, is not
much more recent. Other cottages that are particu-
farly worth noting are no. 10 Water Lane, the cottage
in the lane south of the former Rectory, Ford Cot-
tage, White Cottage with its five small dormers which
in 1841 was divided into three,*3and a little northof it
a cortage with some herringbone brick infilling. Some,
like Waterside House Cottage, now called Red Tile
Cottage, have old tile roofs. Although timber frame
with brick filling is the commonest type of structure
for the older cottages there are a few in stone. With
the exception of Waterside House and the Old

7 Trnity Coll. Oxf. muniments.

8 d.d. Par. Grt. Haseley d 2 (1); Bodl. Tithe award.

9 See below, D. 76.

20 0.5, Map 67, xivi (1922).

T Oxon. Co. Brmg,:s (187 8). A mblet on the bridge states
that the bridge was srected in 1888 to the memory of Frank
Aldworth of Drayton ‘byv his labourers’.

12 Bodl. Tithe award map.

13 Trinity Coll. mun.

1+ Q.S. Map 67, xlvi (1922) (the bridge is not marked on

o
/=

Rectory all the larger houses in the village are, or
were formerlv farmhouses. The two rarms in the
modern ullaae have houses that were greatly ex-
tended in the 1g9th century. But while Drayzon
Manor Farm is an enlargernent of an old but not

by

=il

very distinguished bu1ldmg, Drayton House T
*'1r?\r 1“‘

is an enlargement of a well- D‘L‘t‘lDlJl'T‘lf'li::'_.
century house of which a chimney stacl
panelled room survive. Between these farmhouses s
a house, now divided in two, formerly
called Drayton Farm although it '1-m -akes its name,
Guvs, from a tenant J. H. Guy, from it
in the early part of the 2oth century.™? [t 3 atimber

framed brick building on a rubble base. The White

House, also a hrnlhousc in the mid-7arh century, s
stone built and consists of a 17th-cencury block wita

a wing added in the 18th century. Forad Cottage, 2
house south of White House which has since dis-
appeared although some of the farm buildings have
survived, and Manor Caottage ( formeriy Nutts) we-z2
also farmhouses in 1841. Waterside House was ‘n
1841 a prlvate house and consists of 2 zoth-17th-
century house with modern additions. Its sonth =
is substanti ially built of stone but the rest of the 0!
house is fimber framed with brick diling. It has ﬁn
stone m'eplam.ca. probably 17th century, on ta
ground and first floors. t)ppﬂ:altt .....
is a large yew tree. The Rectory, now a privatz house

called Furlongs , was built |:w the Revd. A, J.
Williams in 1862 at a cost of more than f1,200 and
was later enlarged.?® There ure clear traces of an
earlier bm_[umg, shown on the Tithe award Mup,
but this was not the earlier zurate's house, which
stood on the road south of the church.*!

The oldest and most interssting secular structure
in the village is the barn which is alternatively called
the Haseley Barn, because it was formerly ogwned by
the Great I—Iasenev Trustees, and the Tithe Barn,
although there is no evidence, ethc: zhan its ai-, o
support such a title. It is a timber-framed, weather-
boarded building of six bays with a hipped and tied
roof which is carried down over aisles on all four
sides. This barn is certainly no l.ac“ than the 15th
century and may have been bu;:t ton i
the tath. There are several groups of
buildings, some thatched, the most noteworthy being
those of Drayton House Farm, Dravien Marnor
Farm and the cart-shed opposite the W "ir House.

In Holcombe Grange thereare twoout. fying iz
and there were houses on these sites in
survev of that vear Lower Grange [z
site or Lamml house of Holcombe ©
present house is a timber-framed bri
a base of stone and brick. To the nor
stone chimney projects and either side «
are fine windows, including ore of <l
under a pent tle overhang. This house,
wavs the most interesting in the paz ‘sit, also has 2
verv good south porch and a 1=th-century Itais
Upper Grange Farm is bas‘-:all* a 1th-cear

which -

n.

llul rp(‘D

TS,

ear'iev- edns. or on the Tithe award n
1/59 (prov. 2dn.).

s For the etymology of the village's first name, sc2 .
p. 7. 16 Inf, Builing<en R.D.C
7 Hearth Tax Oxon. 57.

Bodl. Tithe award.

° O.R.0. Wi Ijij79, lot 7 with Dncofrlrna.
Christ Church Arch. 23 A 53, 31, 83, 34, 2o,
Bodl. Tithe award.

Trinity Coll. mun.: 1768 visitarion.
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DORCHESTER HUNDRED

building, and has a r7th-century panelled hall. Until
it was recently covered there was a dated stone
visible bearing the date 1668.

The topography of the village can first be studied
in the Tithe Award Map of 1841, and thereafter with
the aid of Ordnance Survey maps and the numerous
sale catalogues, it would be possible to trace in detail
most of the changes in the layout of the village,
Before the 1qth century it is not possible to do this,
There are occasional mentions of particular houses,
for example Mr. Yartes's house called Pawiings,
mentioned in 137.4.% which cannot now be identified.
Nor is it pessible to identify the fields and lands
mentioned in =arly deeds and surveys, although the
Tithe Award mup gives many names. Among those
which can be traced back are Lower Shilfield Fur-
long, which is almost certainly the 14th-century
under schulfull ** and Waterslade whichroccurs in this
form in the 15th century. The village and its fields
were in the r7th and 18th centuries divided into two
Ends: the eastern part was Town End, the western
was Farm End. In the Tithe Award the riverside
meadows above the village are described as Town
End Mead and those below the village were called
Farm End Mead,* Ia the early 17th century the
‘whole farme end of Drayton' was presented for
failure to observe the ancient custom of perambula-
tion=¢ and in 17th- and 18th-century leases lands
and houses are often described as being in Town
End or Farm End.?”

There are two public houses in the village, the
‘Catherine Wheel’ and the “Three Pigeons’. In 1841
the only licensed house was the ‘Catherine Wheel’,>3
which was then in what is now called Garden Cot-
tage. In 1803 this house was insured as the ‘Catherine
Wheel'.*» Some time after 1841 the licence and
name were transferred to what in 1841 was the
smithy, and this was probably done by William
Townsend who in 1847-8 was both blacksmith and
licensee of the ‘Catherine Wheel’.#? The modern
house replaced a group of old cottages of which an
illustration survives.’*

MANORS. Dravton was not mentioned by name in
Domesday Book but formed part of the Bishop of
Lincoln’s go-hide estate of Dorchester3? ‘The
bishops subinfeudated part of Drayton, but re-
tained part in demesne.’? Throughout the Middle
Ages they treated their DRAYTON demesne a3
part of their Dorchester manor. In 1547 Drayton
was surrendered to the crown with other members
of this manor3* and a crown survey of the manor in
1531 included 31 yardlands in Drayton.s The estate

Oxon. Visit. 110.
d.d. Par, Grt. Haseley d 2z (2).
Bodl. Tithe award map.
Oxon. Peculiars, 145.
Bodl. MS. chs. Oxon. 3366, 3368, 3869, 3872.
Bodl. Tithe award.
Sun Insurance Company plate on the wall of the house
and inf. from the Company.
10 Kelly, Dir. Oxon. (1847).
31 O,R.O. Wi Lif79, opp. p. 46.
32 V.C.H. Oxon. 1. 402.
31 See below, p. 73.
3+ Cal. Pat. 1547-8, 153;
and see above, p. 12.
L.R. 2/189, f£. 9-12.

1357-8, 409; 1538-60, 437;

35 See above, p, 42.
37 M35, Tap. Gen, ¢ 43-45; d.d. Berie b 1.
38 g.x dd. Ber 3; and see below, p. 76.
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remained part of Dorchester manor under the
bishops’ successors.3® In the r7th century the courts
baron of Dorchester manor were attended by Dray-
ton homagers,37 and 18th-century surveys of the
Dorchester manor of the earls of Abingdon included
land in Drayron.3® At the end of the 13th century
and in the :gth century the Abingdon estate in Dray-
ton was described as Drayton manor.®® It followed
Dorchester’s descent and was purchased in 1876 by
3ir John Christopher Willoughby of Baldon.’®
Dravron manor was sold again in 19164 but there-
after manorial rights appear to have lapsed.

A second manor in Drayton, the later HOL-
COMBE GRANGE, can be traced back to the
holding of the Burcot family,* who were tenants of
t Xnight's fee held of the Bishop of Lincoln in the
rath and 13th centuries, Nicholas son of Bartholo-
mew* held the fee in rzor. A Nicholas de Burcot,
perhaps the same man, held it in 1212+ and either
he or a son was tenant and concerned in transactions
over Drayton land in the 1220's.*5 Another Nicholas
de Burcot, presumably a descendant, was in posses-
sion in 127G, when the fee was described as being in
Drayton, Holcombe, and Clifton.*® John de Burcot,
his son, succeeded, bur by 1346 the Abbot of Dor-
chester was returned as tenant of the fee?

The abbey had been under-tenant of most of the
holding in 1279, when it held 4 virgates in Holcombe
and 2 virgates in Drayton for scutage, and was under-
temant of the 3-fee with 3 others who were to pay
scutage to the abbot when it was demanded.*$ The
abbey still held the estate at the time of the Dissolu-
tion, when its property in Holcombe was known as
Holcombe Grange manor.*> By 1538 the manor had
been granted to Sir Thomas Pope who used it to
endow his foundation, Trinity College, Oxford.s®
Most of the estate remained in the possession of
Trinity College up to recent times. As lords of
Holcombe Grange manor the president and fellows
licensed a gamekeeper in 1808,5 and in 1826 their
lessee, Thomas Gilbert White, was described as lord
of the manor.s* Later records make no mention of
manorial rights. The farms seem always to have been
leased by the college.s

The most important estate in Drayton apar: from
the Abingdon estate was that acquired st the end of
the rgth century by Nicholas Drayton (d. by 1402).5*
Tt was known in the rsth century as DRAYTON
manor.$$ Nicholas Drayton was either the same 48 ot
u close connexion of Nicholas le Naper of Drayton
who in 1362 acquired the estate of John Sheepwash
in Drayton, Baldon, and Clifton.3® The connexion
between Nicholas le Naper of Drayton and Nicholas

40 O,R.0O. Wi I/ij79, p. gs: Sale cat. (1914).

+1 [bid. 85 ; presumably the purchaser was George Pullen
who -was one of the principal landowners in 1pzo: Kelly,
Dir. Oxen. (1939). 12 See above, p. 19,

43 Rat. de 0o, et Fin. (Ree, Com.), 1. 153.

+ Bk, of Fees, t0.

+5 Queen’s Coll. MS. 366, f. 25;
ford Cart. pp. 216-11.

+8 Rut. Hund, (Rec. Com.), il. 743-0.
Feud, Aids, iv. 182, +4 Rot. Hund. ii. 748.
Talor, Fecf, (Rec. Com.), il 170,
H. E. D, Blakiston, Trimty College, 33, 34
Trnity Coll. Ledgar C, pp. 61-62.
0.2.0), Gamekprs.' Deps.
3 Triniry Coll. mun. It estte in 1959 was all attached
to Upper Grange Farm; see below, p. 78.

s+ d.d. Par. Grt. Haseley d 2 (3).

35 See belew.

58 d.d. Par, Grt. Haseley d 2 (4).

Fines Oxon. 96; Sand-
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Drayton is supported by the association of both with
Sir Hugh Segrave.57 Nicholas Drayton’s younger son
Nicholas succeeded.s® He had 2 daughter Elizabeth
who married Peter Idle, a minor civil servant.?® In
t4is Peter Idle und Elizabeth were granted il the
cstarss in Dravton that had been possessed by her
father Nicholes.?® This estate was augmented by
srants from Sir Richard Drayton, Tohn Delabere,
and orhers.>t In 1473 Peter Idle made a will inwhich
he directed his rrustess o Zrant his Jroperty in
Drarton o his son William and his heirs with rever=
sions to other children of his.®* Peter died shortly
afterwards and in 1473 his son William petitioned
Chunesry that his father’s will be complied with and
-2at Dravton manor and property be coaveyed o
him.® [n November 1473 the trustees granted Drav-
ron manor wich all lands, &e., in Drayron to William
with reversions according to the will.® William's
step-mother Anne was provided for in Peter’s will by
an annuity of 5 marks payable out of the estate at
Drayton and Dorchester, and she was alsoto have the
use of the parlour, chapel, chambers, and gardens
‘within my place at Drayton’ until she left them or
married.’s She apparently found employment in the
household of Richard, Duke of Gloucester, as Mis-
tress of the Nursery, and it was perhaps in 1479 that
the duke wrote to William Stonor and Humphrey
Forster asking them to see that William Idle and
Elizabeth his sister paid the annuity due to their
stepmother.® Peter Idle bad an eldest son Thomas,
+o whom his book of Instructions was addressed, but
neither he nor apparently any of his heirs is men-
sioned in Peter’s will. Nevertheless, Thomas's son
Richard claimed, through his grandmother Elizabeth
Tdle, all the property in Drayton that had once be-
longed to Elizabeth's father, Nicholas (II) Dray-
ton.°” Apparently this claim was successtul, for in
481 William Idle aided in person by the Duke of
Suffolk used force to eject Richard’s mother Alice.5?
Alice petitioned the King's Council for redress and
a Privy Seal writ was issued to restore Alice and
Richard to Drayton manor and to see that William
Tdle appeared before the Council.?® The outcome of
this dispute is unknown, but by 148¢ the manor
seems to have been in the hands of Henry Dene of
Dravton,™ In 1301 it was conveyed to John Yate of
Charney Basset (Berks.),” and remained with his

7 Nicholas Drayton the father was a cousin by marriage
of 3ir Hugh Segrave: G, Wrottesley, Pedigrees from the
Plea Rolls’, The Genealogist (5.5, xvi), 187; one of the co-
fenffees through whom Nicholas le Naper acquired the
Sheepwash estate was Hugh Segrave: d.d. Par. G,
Haseler d. 2 (5-4). The de=ds of the Le Naper and Dirav-
ton sstates in Dravton are in the same coilection: d.d. Par.
Gre. Haselev d 2. The connexion is aiso confirmed by arms
in Drayron noted in 13741 Oxom, Visit. 1c6, T10.

53 is alder brother Sir John Drarton quircieimed the
estate in 1402: d.d. Par, Grr. Haseley d 2 (3).

o See Instructions to his son, ed. C. D’Evelyn (1933,
where his public and privats life are fully discussed.

40 d.d, Par. Grt. Haselev d 2 (6, 8-11).

51 Thid. (12). Delabere (Delabert) made a grant to
Nicholas (11} Dravton in 1421 ibid. (7). For his connexicn
with the family see above, p. 19.

62 d.d, Par. Grt. Haseley d 2 (14, 17).

53 C 1/50/87.

# d.d. Par. Grt. Haseley d 2 (7).

% Jbid.

85 Stonor Letters and Papers, ii. (Cam. Soc. 3rd. ser.
xxx)}, 81-82.

67 d.d. Par. Grt. Haseley' d 2 (18).

83 Leadam, Select Cases (Selden Soc. mmv), 116-17.

59 jbid.
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family during the 16th century. This estate was not
treated as a separate manor in later records, but as
part of Dorchester manor held in free socage.™ In
1530 John Yate settled his Drayton estate on his wite
Alice and vounger son Thomas.” Thomas (d. 1395
was the founder of the Yate family of Lytora
(Berks.).™ In the mid-16th century he was one of
the most substancial tenants in Drayton, saying
cs. Hd. rent for his land held of Dorchester mano:
at his death in rg6g he held 4 vardlands copynelc =5
wweil as 1hbout 260 acres, g vardlands called s
Farm, freehold,™ which was leased to Rich
ling of Drayton.” Thomas Yate’s son Fran :-
ceeded him and seems to have lived in Dravton.”
By 1507, however, Francis's son Thomas had soli:
farm to a Robert Deyley of Hambleden (B
and George Lazenby of Drayton.™ They d:
osroperty in 1397.20 The Doyley part (4 var
remained in their hands until the Civil W5 wren
it was mortgaged and then sold about 1645.% Tz
property changed hands several times, but Anally,
about 16371, it was purchased by the trustess ot *h
Haseley Poor Charity.5* They continued o lsase
e -

to various tenants® unil they sold it am
Second World War.

ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL HISTORT. Dray-
ton's situation was probably determined by the for
which must have been a convenient crossing 3f the
River Thame, especially before the river was bridges
at Dorchester. Its name implies something )
with communications and may mean ‘the fuy %
things can be dragged across the river’.™ It wwas
originally a subsidiary settlement of Dorchester 1ad
in Domesday book was treated as part of the Bisheo
of Lincoln’s Dorchester manor.¥% Drayton 3 irst
mentioned by name in 1146 as a chapelry of Dor-
chester.’

The main medieval estate in Drayton belongzd to
the Bishop of Lincoln's Dorchester manor. The
detailed information about it is in a survey made n
the second quarter of the 13th century. The Gishor
manor then included 23 virgates in Drayon tac
were heid by 18 villeins. Each virgate rendercd
35, 6d. to the bishop in lieu of week-work, e 3
services owed being the same as those due 7o
Chisiehampton virgaters.3? In addition <0

3

70 4.d. Par. Grt. Haselev d 2 (zc-22).

7t Ibid. (24, 23): C 1/138(35.

72 e.g. C 142/133/50.

w4 V.C.H. Berks. v, 290.

78 L.R. z/189g, f. 20,

78 C raaf143/ 501 Req. 2{123/14:

77 Req. 2/taj/td.

18 4. Par, Urn Haseler ¢ 3 (uncat. deed 2
1374 Mz Yare of Lyford was said ro live
House: Oxen, Visit. 106,

79 d.d, Par. Gre, Haselev ¢ 3 (uncat.). This svas ap
not the main branch of the [’Ovley family of X
{which inherited Chislehampron and Hambleden):

W. D. Bavley, Eouse of D'Oyley, 23-27.

30 4.4, Par. Grt. Haselev ¢ 3 (uncat.). n Isid,

82 Thid.: see aiso Delatieid's “Hist. of Grt, Haseler?': M=,
Gough Ozon. 22, . 92-93.

8 4.d Par Gro Haseley ¢ 53 (uncau): M3, Ceuch
Oxon. 23, £. 93 in £651 the trustees leased the « yazdl
For their estate see Q.R.O. Land tax assessit In
award: Mise. Av, I/1; Bodl, Tithe award; I
Oxoun., (1387-19309).

8¢ DV, Oxon. (EP.N.S.), 135-4.

5 [7,C.F. Oxon. i. 302; and see above, p. 7Z.

86 Rog, Antiquiss. 1. 217.

87 Queen’s Coil. MS. 366, f. 275; and see abeve. .1z
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services which were general throughout the manor
mest virgaters at Dravton had to plough an acre of
land, this service being called grascherch.3® This
account may be compared with a mudlated survey of
127g which shows that the bishop's manor then had
14 villein tenants holding between them 22 vir-
gates.® [n the earlier survev 3 viileins held 2 vir-
gates each while in there were 8 hoiding 2
virgates 2ach.?® The services due from each virgate
n 127q dre described. and there seems to have teen
an great of ince the earlier, mora dezailed, sur-
vey, Each virzater had to plough 2 acres of the
bishop's demesne and at the critical rimes of the
vear, havmaking and harvest, had o work lor 2%
days on the bishop's land at his own expense and 2
days with food provided by the bishop. He had aiso
=0 cart hay and corn as long as necessary and when
required had to cart corn to marker. No mention is
made of 2 money rent bur this must be a mistake:
rhe commuted week-works had not been reimposed.
The virgaters were not freemen: they wers unable to
ge the marriage of their daughters or sell their
beasts without the bishop's consent.” The earlier
survey does not mention free tenants, but n 127¢
4 tenants, helding g virgates between them, claimed
that their ancestors had been free sokemen, serving
the king in war for 4o days, but that the bishops had
withdrawn this service. They owed light boon-dues
and ploughed 2 acres if they had a whole plough.
They carried the bishop’s letters for one day at their
own expense and afterwards at the bishop's. They had
aiso to attend Dorchester hundred court. One of
them, Waiter son of Thomas, held 4 virgates and was
evidently a prosperous man with a shepherd and
with under-tenants.%? A fifth free tenant held a
messuage and 1} virgates for 7s. and suit at the
hundred court.®s Both surveys mention a cottager
who owed .. a year for a fishery in the Thame.?*
The estate of rhe bishop’s knight Nicholas de
Burcot was also described. His 74 virgates were held
by under-tenants. The Abbot of Dorchester was the
most important of these, as in the other villages to
which the De Burcots’ fee extended.”s The abbot
keld Holcombe Grange (4 virgates), and several vir-
gates in Dravton proper. Apart from the abbev the
most noteworzhy tenants of Nichelas de Burcot's fee
were Luke le Naper and Robert Sheepwash, the
descendants of whom were prominent among the
tenants of the r4th century.?8 In 1327, when the total
assessment of Dravton was £t os, 1od., 25 people
contributed, ten of whom were assessed at 4. or
more, including John Sheepwash and Nicholas le
Naper.97 The most conspicuous of the taxpayers of
1327 was, however, John le Wise whose assessment

33 Queen’s Coll. MS. 366, f. 275.

308 Rot. Hurd. {Rec. Com.), ii. 748; and see below, p. 85,
n. 50.

90 Queen’s Coll. MS. 366, f. 275.

9% Rot. Hund. ii. 748.

9z Tbid.; see also above, p. 68.

93 Rot. Hund. ii. 748,

9+ Queen’s Coll. MS, 366, f. 27b; Rot. Hund. ii. 748.

95 See above, pp. 10, 67.

96 Rot. Hund. ii. ;48.

97 E 179/161/9.

98 Thid.; Queen’s Coil. MS. 366, f. 275; Rot. Hund.
(Ree, Caom.), ii. 748. The Wise family continued o be
prominent in Dravton until the mid-rgth cent., see e.g.
L.R. 2/130, £ gb; O.R.0. Incl. award,

99 The earlier survey gave the bishop’s demesne for the
whols of Dorshester hundred only: Queen’s Coll. MS,
306, f. 276,

Y -
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was 155. He was probably a descendant of that
Richard Wise who appears in both the 13th-century
surveys as a virgater on the bishop’s manor.?8
Neither 13th-century survey described the
bishop's demesne in Drayton specifically, but it is
clear from the services owed that there must have
been a demesne and that its routine cultivation must
have been by hired labour.?? The only known survey
of the demesne of this manor was made in 1348, when
the bishop's Dorchester manor, treated as a unit
throughour the whole hundred, was described. Very
few of the furiongs recorded can now be identified,
but at least 2 were in Drayton, 14 acres in the Hurst,
and ;o acres in "Waterslude furlong.
There is {ittle evidence for the later Middle Ages,
but various surveys, made when Drayton passed out
of ecclesiastical hands, throw light on 16th-century
conditions. In 1550 the abbey’s Dravton lands were
held by only 2 or 3 tenants, the largest holding being
in the hands of Richard Molyneux who paid [3 2s.
rent a vear.* The abbey held 173 acres in Holcombe
in demesne, and these had clearly been inclosed in
the Middle Ages for sheep-farming.3 In 1536 it was
stated that 160 acres there were ‘partly grown with
thorns and fursens’.+ Holcombe Grange was then
valued at £+ 8s. 84. a vear, but after the Dissolution
the king's lessee paid £83 os. 345 In 1507, when it
was in the possession of Trinity College, it was
divided into Upper and Lower Grange farms and
these two farmhouses were the only ones there.$
The bishop’s former manor was surveyed in 1531,
when it was held by the Crown. There were 11
customary tenants, g of whom held 21 virgates.”
One of the others, Thomas Spyer, seems to have
held little land although his rent, 1cs. rod. was abour
the sum due for a virgate. The remaining customary
tenant was Thomas Yate, the size of whose holding is
not given although his rent was 6os. 64.% The total
rental from the customary tenants was £16 5s. 10d.
plus a 4d. fine paid by the tenant of 4 virgates for
licence to sublet.? Thus the Drayton estate con-
stituted a fair proportion of the total rental of Dor-
chester manor, which was £76 3s. 1od. plus an in-
crement of 6os. 6d.1°
The survey of 13351 listed in detail the timber on
the manor: 424 trzes on the Drayton estate;™ it also
described the pasture rights: each of the 31 yardlands
was entitled to graze josheep, 2 beasts, and 2 horses. '
The prosperity of the Drayton farmer in the 16th
century is indicated by the returns for the subsidies:
sixteen taxpayers contributed in 1523.93 In 1577 the
total contriburion was almost as great as that of
Dorchester itseif and two farmers paid on £13 and
£19 worth of goods.™ Richard Pawling, one of these,
I Queen’s Coll. MS. 366, fl. 6cb-61; cf. Bodl. Tithe
award mao.
z H. Addington, Some Account of the Abbey Church of
St. Peter and St. Paui at Dorchester, 154 (ministers’ accts. ).
3 Valor Eccl. (Rec. Com.), ii. 170.
+ Ibid.
s TIbid.; Addington, Dorchester, 162-3 (ministers’ accts.),
§ Trinity Coll. mun.
7 L.R. 2/180, if. 9-10. Richard VMolyneux had taken
over 2 virgutes formerly held by Richard Fourde, presuri-
ably the descendunt of the Ateford tenants of 1279; John
Ranaster held 2 =irgares ‘ormerly held by John Sugges,
perhaps a descendant of John Sug assessed at 184. in 1327
(E t70/161;9). 3 L.R, 2/1809, f. 10.

® Ibid, 10 Thid, f. 1ob.

11 Ibid. f. 18. 12 Ibid. f. 13.

13 E 179/:61/193; 162/341.

4 E 179/162/341.
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farmed the 13 virgates of the Yates’s Drayton farm,
much of it still open-field land.'s Shortly after 1563
he had complained that the steward of the queen’s
manor, Leonard Parrer, who was also a tenant of the
maror, was vvercharging the land with sheep and
had so tainted the ground that the previous winter
he, Pawling, had lost 9 sheep.’ Pawling added
that Parret as steward was judge in his own cause
and ‘vet utterly unlearned in the laws of che realm’.7

Several court books of the Dorchester manor
in Drayton for the t7th and early 13th centuries
have been preserved which reveal a little of the
working and customs of the manor.'S Separate orders
-vere made ior the two 2nds, Farm and Town, of
Drayton, and although most arders were concerning
the scouring of watercourses, there are also regula-
tions about the ringing of hogs and pigs, surcharging
the common, and muking mounds in the felds. In
1601 the staking of horses on Broad Green before
Whitsun was prohibited, as was the penning of sheep
on the wheat feld after zo October in 1704, In 1693
the digging of gravel at Church End was prohibited.

The court books also throw a little light on the
various freeholds in the manor, no doubt deriving
from the estates of Dorchester Abbey and the Yate
family. In 1641, for example, John Wise died
seized of 3 messuages of the Norreys manor and two
messuages freshold.’? The 1665 hearth-tax return
shows that John Wise, assessed on 6 hearths, had
one of the larzest farmhouses in the viilage. In that
vear 10 out of 16 householders paid tax on houses
with 6 to 7 hearths.??

Evidence in the 13th century for the Drayton
estate of Dorchester manor is plentiful. It was then
held by tenants of the Earl of Abingdon.? In 1728
the earl had zo tenants in Drayton, excluding one
holding of 2 acres, and between them they held 729
acres,* The largest holding was that of Henry Wise,
8% vardlands (171 a.), but there were 3 other tenants
holding t11 acres, 12z acres, and o8 acres respec-
tively. Of the remainder 3 heid 4o acres or more, and
1 held less than 30 acres,’s This may be compared
with a survey of 1785.26 In this the earl’s estate in
Drayton only measured 3359 acres, the rzduction of
170 acres since 1728 apparently being due to the loss
of the lands held then by Henry Wise, whose de-
scendants certainly held about 13e acres freehold in
the rgth century.? In 1733 the earl had 7 tenants in
Drayton. The largest holdingswere 131 acres and 131
acres. The two smaller holdings of 1728 (rc a. and
29 a.) remained intact, but the others were amalga-
mated so that the remaining three holdings were
between 7.4 and 84 acres.*$ The total rental for the
earl’s land in Drayton was £333, the valuation being
164, an acre for arable and 335, an acre for meadow.?
In 1728 the surveyor reported that the land was good

s Req. 2/123/14; and see above, p. 74.

16 Jbid.

17 Ibid.

13 d.d, Bertie ¢ 13; b 1; MSS. Top. Gen. ¢ 43-45. The
court books also make it possible to rrace the tenurial
descent of the main manor and the Great Haseley Charity
lands in great detail.

19 e,g. MS. Top. Gen. ¢ 43, pp- 30, 66; d.d. Bertie b 1,
pp. 32, 53, 82, 92.

20 See above, p. 74.

2t VS, Top. Gen. ¢ 43, 2. 488.

22 Hearth Tax Oxon. 57.

3 d.d. Bertie ¢ 3; d 1; MS. Top. Oxon. 2 46; 47; b
7-3; € 3815 383-5; 387; e 300-3.

+ MS. Top. Oxon. ¢ 381, pp. 52-355.
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and that the method of husbandry . as twe zrops
1 fallow and that they wanted nozing so mu ;
rest by being laid down to grass for 2 season
meadow land was said 10 be very so0d uni
let for 3cs. to 4os. an acre.’!
Detailed valuation for tithes 7
whole parish, apart from Holeombe G
by Richard Davis of Lewknor,* Ho ce
the parish was rated at 44 vardls
End, 2¢ at Farm End, but thar tae
about equal, the size of the lands &
at Farm End. The course of husbun
crops to a failow, namely vwhear
fallow. The arable of Town End ~as the
into four ‘seasons’, but retained the same names as
when formerly divided intc three
measuring 161 field acres. Farm
tield acres. Davis remarked that -

DONIs were

short and estimated the area as f2¢ statute acres.
The greater part of Drayten meacow ~vag il
1

to Dorchester parish, the other ra

Ford, but the afterfeed belonged w =

He measured it as totalling 3¢ feid cre

of which 24 were in Town End Mead

mon was then 13 cows and 3o sheep w each
a5

but less than half that quantity wer:
Cow Commons were let at Town Exd “or (75 each.
and at Farm End for 1os. each, The sheep wer:
chiefly wether focks. The tenant of the :ithes pro-
vided two bulls for the use of the pacish, dne for 2ach
end. The old inclosures containe< atout 24 acres ot
which 16 were arable. His valuation was based on
the following crop acreages: whea® 132, beaans 133,
barlev 100, nats 33, clover in fallow field 4o, and
open-field meadow 25 acres, An uverage ot 120 lambs
was bred, 2c0 sheep sheared, and 3= cows kept.s &
survey of tithes made in 1812 estimazed the comeon
field as 74 acres and recorded thar the holdings of
the four main tenants ranged in from 10010 215
acres.** By this time Holecombe ¢ r= was divided
into two farms according to a survev made in 1753,
although in 1750 the estate had be=n divided into
three farms.? A map and survey 07 1797 shows that
Upper Grange farm was 13¢ acres, Lower Grangs
farm g6 acres.’® Almost the whols was meadow and
pasture; only 12 acres of Upper arm i o
were tillage, although 30 vears p
beea more.37 The stock in 1768 6o 20
sisted entirely of fatting sheep anc -
butter.3¥ In 1811 43 cows were
farms; the butter made was se
market.’? Generally the Grange
leased: in 1680 to Mary Spyer,
Richard Jones, lessee for over 4o i
to George White of Newington. A M, White wz
still lessee in 1816 and 1825.+°

an the Twvao
Wallingferd
7.5 70 havethesn

. in [7occ ©

and in 1757

i

25 Ibid.

3¢ d.d, Bertie ¢ 3, pp. 15-18, 28,

27 Bodl. Tithe award. The reduction may, of courze, =¢
due merely to 2 more accurate surver.

=3 d.d. Bertie ¢ 3, pp. 15-13.

=% Ibid. po. r3-18. 28.

50 VS, Top. Oxon. ¢ 381, p. 56.

3 Ibid. 32 Ch.

33 Ibid. Rye was evidently grown :
time, since the Tithe award map has

3 Ch. Ch. Arch. 25 A 8.

35 Trinitv Coll, mun.

36 Thid.

33 Ihid,
o Ibid.; O.R.O. Gamekprs' Degps.

+
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Drayton continued to be farmed by five or six
farmers during the frst part of the 1gth century. In
1785 there were 21 land proprietors and 20 occupiers
and owner-occupiers in the parish.#* The two largest
farms, one of them Holcombe Upper Grange farm,
were each assessed for about a quarter of the total

DRAYTON

BEFORE INCLOSURE IN 1841

DRAYTON ST. LEONARD

there were only three farmers of consequence:
Henry Betteridge farmed 350 acres and employed 31
labourers, Abraham Dean farmed 250 acres with 19
labourers, and John Smith of Holcombe Grange
farmed 600 acres with 35 labourers.#6 The main
landowners over this period were the Earl of Abing-

N
A

L

L Meadow
M Basture o) 4 %

+ Former Common

|

Based on the tithe award and map (1841).

tax. Six other farms had more moderate assessments
of between £+ and [11. Other inhabitants owned or
occupied premises assessed at under £1.42 By 1816
several farmers had taken over other property and
most of the land was in the hands of six farmers.*
By 1832 there were four chief farmers.+ In 1841
they had farms of 360 acres {(i.e. Upper Grange
farm), 221 acres, 219 acres, and 217 acres.*s By 1851

+t O.R.O. Land tax assess.

4 Ibid.

++ Ibid.

+ Bodl. Tithe award.

+ Ibid.

don and Trinity College.*™ In 1844 the Drayton
estate of the Earl of Abingdon comprised some 541
acres.#® Over half was held on grants for lives or
leases and brought in only £4 145. 8d. 2 year; the
rest was held on a yearly basis, at rents amounting to
£356 185, Much improvement was anticipated from
inclosure.*?
The Haseley Trust and the Betteridge and Wise

45 H.0. 107/1688/4.

47 O.R.O. Land tax assess.; Bodl. Tithe award.

+5 d.d. Bertie d 1.

+9 TIbid.
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families owned smaller areas of 60 to 120 acres in
Drayton.s¢ Shortly after inclosure in 1361 Henry
Betteridge purchased the Wise estate thus bringing
to an end their long history as landholders in Dray-
=on.5t It also marked a significant stage in the growth
of one of the main estates in 1gth-century Drayton.
In 1873, when the Abingdon Estate was finally
offered for sale, Henry Betteridge farmed 260 acres
as tenants? as weil as having extensive freehold
which when offered for sale in 1901 totalled 372
acres.’

The parish to the north of the river remained
npen-field land up to the second half of the 1oth
century. At the time of the tithe award in 1841 two-
thirds (825 a.) of the parish was arable and just
under a th1rd. much of it incorporated in Upper and
Lower Grange farms, was meadow and pasture.s*
There were 7 acres of orchards and ozier beds and

537 acres of common. There were then seven fieids;
one of which, East Field, had been mentioned in the
17th century,® while West Field was the old Town
End division. The meadow land along the Thame
was divided into lots; Woodford Mead, as it was
called, was shared by the neighbouring parishes of
Ewelme, Benson, and Berrick, and Dorchester had
lots farther east.’” The common was distributed
throughout the parish, but in 1841 it was said to be
privately owned by the Earl of Jxblncrdon.ﬂ;

In 1861 the whole parish was ‘mmlv inclosed. As
lord of the manor the Earl of Abmgdon received just
under 1} acres, equivalent to 75 of the waste. He
also received the largest ailotment of about 578 acres.
Three allottees received berween 80 and 120 acres;
the six others received only one or two acres.s?

No precise information about Drayton’s popula-
zion is available before the 1gth century. In 1676 an
adult population of 128 was recorded by the Comp-
ton Census; in 1811 and 1851 there were 287 and
327 persons. After 1861 the population undcrwqt
the decline usually found in Oxfordshire parishes,
and by 1go1r there were 241 inhabitants.6 This
trend continued in the early zoth century, but by
1951 numbers had risen from the 219 recorded in
1931%% to 314 persons.”

No parish records have survived apart from some
churchwardens’ accounts for 1641-81.53 The only
information that has been found about parish govern-
ment concerns expenditure on the poor. The poor
rate trebled over the years 1776 to 18e3, rising
from [70 to fazo, but the rate in 1303 was still
slightly below ‘the county average of 45. 84.5¢ In 1803
there were 12 adults and 13 children who were per-
manently maintained by the rates; 23 persons re-

50 O.R.0. Land tax assess. ; Bodl. Tithe award. There are
details of the Haseley Trust land in their receivers’ accis.
1852-86: O.R.O. Misc. Ay. I/1.
51 Bodl. G.A. Oxon. b 9¢ (35): Sale cat,
52 Sale cats. of Abingdon estate, 1873 and 1goI1.
53 Bodl. G.A. Oxon. b 9o (335, 36): Sale cat.

5+ Bodl. Tithe award.

s5 Ibid.; and see map,
56

37

B. 77.
MS. Top. Gen. ¢ 43, p. 146.
Bodl. Tithe award; and see map,
58 Bodl. Tithe award.
59 O.R.O. Incl. award. For Drayton inclosure Act see
41 Geo. II1, c. 43 (local and personal).
60 [V C.H. Oxon. ii, 220. 61 Census, 1931.
62 Census, 1951. 63 Par. Rec.
6+ Poor Abstract, 402; Young, Oxon. Agric. 43, 33.
85 Poor dbstract, 403.
%6 2nd Rep. Poor Law Com. App. (E), H.C.
p. 294 (1836), xxix (2).

P- 77
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ceived occasional relief.%s By 1835 exvenditure on the
poor had reached [342.66

Drayton’s main business is and always n1as been
agriculture, the cultivation of the plain it sharss with
Dorchester. In 1914 over 24 per cent. of crops
were wheat and 21 per cent. barley.97 The soil was
said to be easily worked but incapabie of witistand-
ing urnught."f‘ Sheep were a good counter-baiance
to this type of soil. and there were 6o sheep and over
per rco acresin 1geg and over 4o sheep per fooactes
n 191.+.% Permanent pasture over the whoie p:
was under 30 per cent.”® Most of it o FHol-
combe: in 1931 233 acres of Lpoe' Grange Jarm
were pasture.’! In 1959 this farm {275 a.) vas sml
mestly laid down to pasture.” Dra; rton norta of the
river was farmed in two Units: one consisting of :ae¢
Heary Betteridge estate together with th
Trust land was 2 l:l].’"{.-aCﬂh.. market garden, d
from Dravton House farm, the other, Dravten
Manor farm, was part of a larger farm, 1,2co dcses.
belonging to Mr. S. J. Farrant, and was reminiscent
of the medieval mbtory of the parish in that &
stretched well bevond the bounds of Drayron parisa
into Burcot and Dorchester, and mainly concen-
trated on arable farming.73
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CHURCH, Drayton church is fArst mention
1145 1s a chapel in a list of the possessions of Dor-
chester Abbey.”™ It was proodbiv one of the chapels
mpmprmed to the abbey which in f143 were served
bv its canons, and fhls is likely to have been the
normal arrangement.” The chapelry wis in Dor-
chester pecuhar 76
After the Dissolution the rectory and‘advowson'of
Drayton were granted to the Dean and Chaptar of
Christ Church, Oxford,?7 and they stiil hold the gift
of the living, which was a pcrpcr.uai curacy 1.11'.11
1870, when the tithes were made over %o a2 incum-
bent. In the late 16th century the curate of Dravion
seems generally also to have served C..t o E{:r.m-j-
den7$ and since 1950 Drayton has been heid i
ality w1t‘1 ::n.adrmmmon and Chislehamp
In1z Lne curate’s annual at‘ptﬂ‘l.u, pim m' T"h-;r-

chester
mained the ce ortain annu.il sum pam oy
chapter 1o the curate.’® In the early 1
this payment seems to have been r"..mi\ |
vear’! and later to [f20. By 1773
LLKI.'" r aiso paid the curate a furthes
under the terms of Dr. South's will. 3 T
augmented by the Governors of Qu
Bounty in 1747 and 17358 by L2003 s0
the curate’s annual income was L4734 incl

67 Boyd Orr, Oxon. Agric., plates facing 20

o8 Thid. 172, 157.
Ibid. plates facing pp.
Ibid. plate facing p. 2o01.
Trnity Coll. mun.
Inf. Trinity Coll. estate office.
Local inf.; Land ¥ tiiization survey Red
Reg. Antiquiss. 1. 247.
75 Visir. Dioc, Linc. (1420-49), So.
{. Oxon. Peculiars.
77 L ks P Hen, VIII, xd (2), p- 33+4; cf. X7l 2. 4%
78 0.A.3. Rep. (1918), 130.
Subsidy 1526, 279.
Ch. Ch. Arch. 25 A 135.

81 Qxf. Dioc. ¢ 135, f. 51.

32 Ch, Ch. Arch. xiv b. 2, p. 10,

8 C. Hodgson, An Account of Queen A
(1843, 323.

84 Ch. Ch. Arch. 25 A 1.

o.
)

220, 221,
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which amounted then as in 1826 to about £1.55 In
1801 an estate of 23 acres at Tetsworth was pur-
chased for £goo.%6 It vielded varying sums, {29 in
1803, f401n 1804, £26 in 1831, until in 1876 it was
exchanged for £64 16s. rectorial tithes.’” In 1826
the Governors of (Jueen Anne’s Bounty further aug-
mented the living by a grant of £600 which, together
with £zoc gziven by the dean and chapter and a
similar sum given by the curate himself, yielded an
annual income that raised the value of the living in
1831 to just under (9c.38 In 13865 there was a
further augmentation obtained ‘not without diffi-
culty’,3

In 1535 Dravton chapel was valued at 11 a year®
and this remained the valuation of the parsonage
until at least the beginning of the 18th century. In
the z-th century the lessee of the tithes paid
L7 65. 84, of this in cash, the remainder in kind and
aithough the annual cash payment increased at times
in the rgth century to as much as £ 350 the terms of
the render in kind remained unchanged.°! Apart
from this payment the lessee of the parsonage after
1631 also paid the curate’s stipend. This may have
been the case earlier and certainly in 1533 he was
required to provide bread, wine, and wax for :he
celebrant and to find ‘sufficient and honest mans-
meate and horsemeate to every preacher coming
thither’. The rectory consisted of tithes great and
small from the parish north of the river, and an
annual rent of tos. This rent can be traced back to
1532, when the dean and chapter had a dispute with
Edmund Ashfield over the first crop from 74 acres of
the lotte meades which they claimed should belong w0
Drayton rectory. It was agreed that Ashfield should
have the crop but should pay the dean and chapter
10s. a year or two loads of hay.92 Thus in 1555 and in
1353 the rectory included this annual payment. In
1799 the rectory was valued at £2835 25. 44.9% and the
valuations of 1824 and 1334 were almost the same.?*
In 1340 it was £340.%3

In 1552 the rectory was leased to Richard Pawling
and it remained in the Pawling family until the early
18th century.’6 At the end of the 18th century it was
held by Edward Tawney and in 1820 by Richard
Tawney of Willoughby (Warw.). In 1840 the tithes
were commuted and apportionment was altered after
the inclosure award of 1861. From the 16th century
the tithes of Holcombe Grange were held by the
fresholders, Trinity Coilege, Oxford.

Until the 1gth century curates seem generally to
have been non-resident, although it is probable that
Tohn Dunt who was curate from 1623 to 1675 lived
in the minister’s cottage mentioned in 1641.97 This
cottage may have Deen the same as the ‘parson house,
next the churchyard’, mentioned in 1778 as having
been in the possession of the parish officers who put
the poor in it.°8 During the 18th century the church
was served for two or three years at a time by
students of Christ Church who travelled out on Sun-

% Ibid. 25 A 13. 86 Tbid. 25 A 6.
37 Ibid. xiv. b. 2, pp. 364-35.

% Tbid. p. 365.

39 Ibid. 25 A 94.

29 Valor Eccl. (Rec, Com.), ii. 170.

2t Ch. Ch. Arch. Drayton rectory box.

%2 Ibid.; Req. 2/17/88.

% Ch. Ch. Arch. 25 A 3.

" Ibid. 25 A 22—-23. 95 Bodl. Tithe award.
90 Ch. Ch. Arch. Drayton rectory box.

°7 Par. Rec. Chwdns’ acct. bk. s.a.

”
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days and therefore had no need of a residence. The
most famous of these was Phineas Pett, curate from
1787—90. In 1784 the dean and chapter bought a
small cottage for the curate’s use on Sundays.? In
1814 the curate again resided, and this cottage was
enlarged in 1330 in a makeshift manner at a cost of
£325.0 In 18358 A. J. Williams, the curate in whose
incumbency the extensive restoration of the church
was carried out, appealed to the dean and chapter for
funds to build a4 new parsonage house on an acre of
land given by the Earl of Abingdon. This house was
built in 1862 at a cost of over 1,200 and was en-
larged in 1872.3 As the church has been held in plur-
ality with Stadhampton since 1950 the Rectory has
peen sold.

In 1778 the curate reported to the dean and
chapter that the churchyard was let for 30s. a year
which was claimed by the churchwardens for the
repair of the church.t According to him no one had
been buried in the churchyard until about 40 years
previously: parishioners were buried in Dorchester.
"This may not be strictly true because there are some
grave-stones in the churchyard dated before 1738,
but it is not unlikely that at an earlier time Drayton
had no burial ground of its own. The same curate
also reported that some land had been let for the
repair of the church and this was probably the 2 acres
held by the churchwardens in 1841. In the early 17th
century there seems to have been an old custom of
perambulation or procession about which we know
because of failures to observe it.

The church, dedicated to ST. LEONARD,® is a
small stone building, comprising a chancel, nave,
and north chapel, with a wooden south porch and a
wooden belfry standing at the west end of the nave.
The now partly roughcast roof is covered with tiles
and the upper walls of the belfry with wooden
shingles.

The earliest part of the church is the nave with
several Iz2th-century features, including the door-
ways in the north and south walls and the traces at
the eastern end of the nave in both the north and
south walls of windows that have been blocked. In
the 13th century the west and north-west windows
of the nave were made and the small side chapel
added at the north-east end. The chapel has a fine,
plain, round Early English pier and two unequal
openings in the nave wall. A slightly pointed arch
leads to the chancel which seems, judging from the
position of the windows, originally to have been
lower than the nave, a feature destroyed in the 19th-
century restoration.”

The tower is a fine timber structure probably
earlier than the 16th century: the church certainly
had three beils in 1532.8 The belfry is separated
from the nave by 18th-century oak panelling.

In the 16th century the south-west window of the
chance! and the south-east window of the nave were
altered to admit more light. In 1629 the church and

98 Ch, Ch. Arch. xiv. b. 2, p. 364; 25 A 1.
%9 Ibid. xiv. b. 2, p. 364.
t Ibid. 25 A 15. For plan and description see 25 A 33.
2 Ch. Ch. Arch. 25 A 33; for appeal to Diocesan Church
Building Soc. see M3, Top. Oxon. ¢ 103, fl. 402-3.
3 Par. Rec. Mortgage. + Ch. Ch. Arch. 25 A 1.
5 Oxon. Pecultars, 144-5.
6 See Bacon, Lib. Regis.
7 MS. Top. Oxon. d 03, . 36-39. For an early 19th-
century account of the church see Parker, Guide, 326.
8 Chant. Cert., 103, 120.
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tower were reported to be out of repair and sub-
sequently a certain Simon Broadwater was repeatedly
presented for not having carried out repairs.® To-
wards the end of that century the condition of the
fabric seems to have been fairly good,™ but in 1721
the roof and windows were ‘a lictle out of repair’,!s
and aithough there are no detailed descriptions of or
reporss on the condition of the church during the
:3th century, it seems likelv rhar the suceession of
non-resident curates paid insuffictent attention o it.
In 81~ the chancel was reported to be out of repair,
in 1827 the roof, in 1828 two of the three bells were
cracked™and by 1830 the whole of the church was in
very bad condition.’ The windows of the chancel
had had their iracervy removed to simplify glazing,
the roof was in a bad state and the piaster ceiling was
ready to fall. As a result of 2 report made in that year
bv Edward Bruton the restoration was undertaken in
1339 by G. E. Street and was completed at a cost of
£600.** The chancel was partially rebuilt. [ts ‘com-
mon brick floor’ was raised. The plaster ceiling was
removed and the present high-pitched roof made in
piace of the old roof, the line of which can still be
seen over the chancel arch, The extra weight of this
roof and the increased height of the east wall made
the angle buttresses at the cast end necessary. The
tracery of the east window was inserted from new
designs, only the mullions being original, and the
south-west window was completely renewed. In the
nave the ceiling and a western gallery were removed.

This restoration destroyed many featurss of in-
terest. Apart from those already mentioned, the
eastern gable of the nave apparently had a sanctus
bell turret on which was a sundial, and the roef of
the chancel had an overhanging barge ar the east
end.*s A high wooden pulpit was replaced by a stone
one which was itself replaced in 18¢8 by the present
brightly coloured wooden one, designed by the
Wareham Guild.’® The seating was completely
altered; the new seating was said to be modeiled on
an old seat still existing in the church. It was in-
tended that the restoration should have been even
more drastic, for it was proposed to replace the
wooden bell tower with a stone structure thus pro-
viding more seating space. Fortunately nothing came
of this proposal although it was revived later.

Alterations were, however, made to the tower in
1884 when Bruton reported that it was in need of
repair.t7 It was strengthened, its walls were covered
with shingles, and a clock was inserted.®

In 1930 the chancel door, raised in 1839 so that
there were two steps from the nave into the chancel,
was lowered by volunteer labour to its present posi-
tion of one step at the chancel arch and a second at
the altar. At the same time the altar which had been
placed against the east wall in 18359 was moved for-
ward into the chancel; the chancel rails were also

9 Oxf. Arch. Oxon. ¢ 138, f. 73, 229.

10 Oxon. Peculiars, 150—I.

11 Thid. r3z.

13 Ch. Ch. Arch. 25 & 39.

14 For the restoration and the condition before it see
MS. Top. Oxon. ¢ 103, i 388—93; d 93, ff. 3630, and
Parker, Guide, 326—7; Ch. Ch. Arch. 25 A 39.

15 Ch. Ch. Arch. 25 A 30.

16 Oxf. Dioc. ¢ 1800, faculty.

17 Par. Rec. Report.

13 Notes in church.

29 Tbid.

21 Oxf. Dioc. ¢ 18co0, faculty.

22 Qxon, Visit, 106,

12 Tbid. 153.

20 Ibid.
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moved and the choir stalls were rearranged;™? the
sacristy was built in 1932 also by voluntzar lubour
and in accordance with the plans of Mr, Georfrey
Webb.2e

Electric light was installed in about 1g34.*

The only medieval glass is in the north chancel
window, which is a restoration of a Window Je-
lieved to represent St. Leonard. It has been stated
thart this window was only discovered in the resroru-

tion, but the glass was certainly known in r¥as.
There is now no trace of the arms mentioned Dy Lee
in 1374.% Windows designed by Bucanoii and

Comper were placed in the east window and in the
south-east window of the nave in 1804.%

There are memorial tablets to Abraham Teane
(d. 18cg), William Deane (d. 1846}, J. H. R. Jlute
(d. 1¢28), H. 3. Milford (d. 1g952), and o As
Swindale, M.D. (d. rg52). On the exterior of the
south wall of the church there are four rgth-centu
memorials to members of the Deane and ja
families.

Apart from the former sundial on the sast zadie of
the nave there are five scratch dials on the souti-=ast
wall of the nave and one on the left of the south aoor
which must antedate the porch.

There were three bells in 1552.% They
in 1884 and another three added. The oldest bei
the former tenor of ¢. 1470 and inscribed
Katerina ora pro nobis. The predecessors of the =wo
other bells were dated 1603 and 1633.%%

The Elizabethan chalice and paten cov
1575. There is also a large silver paten (hall-marked
1694) and a pewter flagon.?s At the Reformation the
church possessed two chalices with patens ‘parcell
gylte’, two corporal cases, two candlesticks, and 1
number of vestments and altar clothes.*”

The registers begin in 1568 and there is a Church-
wardens’ account book for 1641-81.%3

rArA T, -
WEEL 1€
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NONCONFORMITY. There is no certain record
of Roman Catholicism.??

After the restoration there was a group of under
ten nonconformists in the parish. From 1663 nnul
1686 there was a steady stream of presentments fot
non-attendance at church,3? and six nonconformist
were recorded in 1676 in the Compton Census.:
Their leader was evidently William Lovegrove, «
bacco merchant. He was presented in 1673 for aoid-
ing a conventicle at his house once every month. xad
although in 1680 he denied this he was again pre-
sented in 1681 for the same offencs.’? ‘

In 1308 the incumbent reported that there wer= |
Drayton ‘a few Methodists visited once 2 !
by a teacher from Oxford at the house of a s
farmer in the village’, and by 1816 Drayen ~
the Oxford Methodist circuit.’s In 1834 there
said to be only two families of dissenters.’* Bv 1331

23 QOxf. Dioc. ¢ 1800, faculty.

24 Chant, Cert. 103.

=6 Evans, Ch. Plate, 53.

27 Chant, Cert. 103.

=3 Par, Rec. There are transcripts of registers
1767-1313, 1313-57, in Oxf, Dioe. b 77, ¢

23 John Werott, gent., and Marian Spen:
Dravion, are mentioned in 1623 (Salter, Ox
42, 16, 36), bur may not have belongad ta

30 Oxon, Pecuilars, 143-30.

31 Compton Census.

32 Owxon, Peculiars, 110-51.

33 Oxf. Dioc. d 249, p. 47.

3+ Oxf. Dioc. b 30.

2s Ch. Beily Cxon.

8o
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there was a Methodist chapel, said to have been buiit
in 1814;% although it only had about twelve mem-
bers, almost the whole of the ‘labouring population’
went to some evening services there.3¢ In 1879 the
oresent (19353) Methodist chapel was built on fand
that had belonged to a Drayton grocer and baker.
{e was one of the four local trustess, the others
heing labourers.s” In 19c6 the chapel, which is on
the Thame and Watlington circuit, was registered
for marriages.’?

SCHOQLS. The first record of any school in Dray-
ton is in 1308, wnen there was a dame school with
% children and a day school where 23 children -vere
raught reading, the Testament, the Catechism and
sewing.s? In 1310 two Sunday schools were started
with 21 bovs and 16 gurls and five years later 29
children were being educated in three day schools.*®
Nevertheless, in 1818 it was reported that there were
no schools in Drayton although the poorer classes
were ‘desirous of the means of education’.#!

By 1833 the Wesieyans had a Sunday school with
46 children, held in their chapel. There was also a
day scnool with 20 boys and girls, which was sup-

DRAYTON ST. LEONARD

ported by their parents.#? The Vicar and other
voluntary subscribers were supporting this school in
1854 when there were 35 pupils.®

The National School was built next to the Rectory
in 1853.# The Poor Law Guardians gave the land
and premises to Drayton’s minister, churchwardens
and overseers in 1858 in trust for the education of
‘the labouring, manufacturing and other poorer
classes in Drayton’.+s The school had an average
attendance of about 4o children until 1906.#¢ In 1925
it became a junior school for children under the age
of 11 and the seniors bicycled to Dorchester. There
was an attendance of 28 in 1943, but in 1947 the
school was closed and the juniors have since gone to
school at Benson and the seniors to Dorchester.+7

CHARITY. Mary Spyer by will, in 16g7, left a rent
charge of L3 on her estate in Huntercombe for
the apprenticing of a bov or girl from this parish.
The Charity Comumissivners in about 1823 reported
that for the last 16 or 17 years no application had
been made for benefit from this charity, though the
owners of the estate did not deny liability to pay the
money.+8 The charity was later lost.+

STADHAMPTON

THE ancient parish comprised 623 acres.* In 1932
Stadhampton was enlarged to 2,426 acres for civil
purposes by the addition of Chislehampton, and
Ascot, formerly in Great Milton parish, and Brock-
hampton, formerly in Newington parish and the
hundred of Ewelme.?

The northern boundary of the ancient parish of
Stadhampton followed Haseley Brook from Hang-
man’s Bridge to its confluence with the Thame; the
western boundary followed the Thame, the southern
Cuxham Brook, which joins the Thame near Chisle-
hampton Bridge. To the east there is no prominent
natural feature and the old boundary followed the
Milton-Thame road southwards from Hangman's
Bridge and then with many indentations, dictated by
the field boundaries, ran south to Cuxham Brook.

There are meadows to the north and south along
the courses of the brooks, and by the Thame on the
west, where the land is liable to floods. The farmland
lies, as it must always have done, to the north and east
of the village.* There is no woodland and compara-
tively few trees, although in the mid-16th century the
parish had been far more thickly weoded than
Chislehampton,? and 2 map of 1742 shows that there
was plenty of tmber in the hedges.®

The parish is relatively flat, being mostly below
the 2cc-foot contour line. The greater part of it lies
H.C. 129/4/125.

Oxf. Dioc. d 179.
Dated stone; Thame Methodist Ch., Convevance.
Thame Methodist Ch., Registration.
Oxf. Dioc. d 707.
Ibid. ¢ 433.
Educ. of Poor, 722.
: Educ. Enq. dbstract, 746.
Wilb. Visit.
0.S. Map 257, xlvi. 6 (1831); Kelly, Dir. Oxon. (1837).
0.R.O. Misc. Or. Ifi.
Kelly, Dir. Oxon. (1887, 1891, 1903); Vol. Sch. Ret.
Z0.

+7 Inf. Oxon. Educ. Cttee.

38 2ty Rep. Com. Char. H.C. 13 p. 405 (1823) viii; see
also under Nuffield, bid. p. 323.
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on clay: Kimmeridge Clay in the cenire and south
west, Gault in the south and east. There is a gravel
deposit in the south-west, and a broad belt of Allu-
vium by the Thame with lesser deposits along the
Haseley and Cuxham Brooks.?

Since the 12th century the place has been called
‘Stodham’ or ‘Stadham’, which may mean ‘river
meadow where horses are kept’, The ‘ton’ is a later
addition, perhaps influenced by the propinquity of
Brockhampton and Chislehampton.® The village
lies in the south-east corner of the parish. The
church fronts the green, and the farmhouses and
cottages are spaced round it at widely separated
intervals, and along the road to Oxford.? The hearth-
tax returns of 1665 show that in the 17th century
there were a number of fair-sized houses: 6 with 5 or
more hearths and § with either 2 or 3 hearths.r® The
largest with 8 hearths was occupied by Timothy
Doyley, one of the chief landowners, but he had
been obliged in 1657 to transfer the ownership with
other property to his son Robert, who undertook
to pay his debts.” John Owen, a noted divine and
triend of the Doyleys, had the next largest house.
When he was ejected in 16359 from the deanery of
Christ Church he bought an estate at Stadhampton,
his birth-place, and retreated to a ‘fair dwelling
house’ there.’? A map of 1742 gives an exact

49 Gen. Dig. Char.

1 Census, 1331. The estimated area in 1341 was 330
acres. For an account of the parochial development of
Stadhampton see below, p. 87.

2 Census, 1931.

0.S. Map 67, x1 (1886), xIvi (1884).

Davis, Oxon. Map.

See above, p. §5; below, p. 3s.

O.R.0O. CH XII/1: surveyed by W. Burgess 1741/2.
G.S. Map 1”7 (~.3.) sheet 254; G.S. Memorr, p. 94.
P.N. Oxon. (E.P.N.S.), 1. 154.

0.8. Map 2357, xlvi. 2, 3 (1881).

Hearth Tax Oxon. 36.

Ibid.; Rousham Arch. O 94.

Wood, Athenae, iv. g6—102; and see below, p. 91.
O.R.0. CH XIl/1.
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503994
g/48 Barn approx. 15m NW of
18/G7/63 Waterside House
{Formerly listed as Tithe Barn
23m. NW of Waterside Hous=2)
Gv [I+

Barn., C13. Uncoursed stone rubble plinth; large timber framing with
weatherboarding; old plain-tile hipped gabletted roof. é4-bay aisled barn with
opposing doors to rear. Bueen-strut roof with trenched purlins and 2 rows of
windbraces to main raof, some windbracing to aisles.

(V.C.H.: Oxfordshire, Val.7, 1962, p.72).

Appendix 2: Listed Building description
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FIGURE 1 Site location



FIGURE 2 1841 Tithe Map




FIGURE 3 First edition 25" Ordnance Survey map {1380)
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FIGURE 5 Planofbarn




50cm

50cm

Double mortice to
| west face of south
arcade post (Frame 1V)

Mortice in upper face of west aisle tie (Frame 1II)

- 50

Figure 6: Isometric details




Side-splayed trench scarf found on purlins

Secret bridle scarf joint found
on aisle plates and arcade plates

Figure 7 Details of scarf joints




Plate 1: Barn during works viewed from north. Plate 2: North end of east elevation.

Plate 3: Barn viewed from west Plate 4: North end of east elevation during dismantling of aisles




Plate 5: South end of east elevation before dismantling of aisles Plate 6: Aisles after removal of rafters, viewed from north
Plate 7: North end of east elevation showing stone plinth and secondary Plate 8: Stone base of main arcade post and lower tie to aisle. Frame III
brick buttress to aisle post. south face.




Plate 9: Aisle post, tie, rafter, brace at east end Plate 10: Southern aisle roof showing notches in
of Frame 1 upper face of aisle plate indicating former rafters

Plate 11: Aisle tie, post and plate. Secret tapering Plate 12: Junction of aisle purlins at south-west
bridle scarf visible to upper face of aisle plate comner of barn.
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Plate 13: Roof from south Plate 14: Roof from north
Plate 15: Double mortice to west face of south  Plate 16: Double mortice to west face of
arcade post to Frame IV, suggesting former south arcade post to Frame V. Suggesting

porch former porch.




Plate 17: Roof detail at east corner of Frame IV Plate 18: Detail at Frame V. Collar, 2 sets of
purlins, principal rafter, strut, 2 wind braces.

Plate 19: Detail at east end of Frame III Plate 20: Hipped roof detail at south-east
corner showing head of short principal rafter




Plate 21: Mortice in upper face of west aisle tie. Frame III Plate 22: South-west comer of roof.
Plate 23: Detail at junction of tie-beam, arcade post, principal rafter Plate 24: View from south.
South face of Frame II. Scarf to west of arcade plate.




OXFORD ARCHAEOLOGICAL UNIT . *f4s

Janus House, Osney Mead, Oxford, OX2 0ES %
Tel: 01865 263800 Fax: 01865 793496 "o, qo?"
email: postmaster@oau-oxford.demon.co.uk 3.1

Director and Chief Executive: David Jennings B.A., M.LEA. Oxford Archaeological Unit Limited.
Private Limited Company Number: 1618597 Registered Charity Number: 285627.
Registered Office: Janus House, Osney Mead, Oxford OX2 0ES




